AerCap Holdings N.V. Form F-3ASR November 07, 2008 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 7, 2008

Registration No. 333-

# U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM F-3

## REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# **AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Netherlands

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

Not Applicable

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

Stationsplein 965

1117 CE Schiphol Airport

The Netherlands

+31 20 655 9655

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

## Puglisi & Associates

850 Library Avenue, Suite 204

Newark, Delaware 19711

Newark, Delaware	19/11
Tel. (302) 738-66	80
(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number	r, including area code, of agent for service)
Copies to:	
Douglas A. Tanner, Esq. bank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP	Erwin den Dikken Chief Legal Officer Stationenkin 965

Douglas A. Tanner, Esq.
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
One Chase Manhattan Plaza
New York, NY 10005
(212) 530-5000

Chief Legal Officer Stationsplein 965 1117 CE Schiphol Airport The Netherlands +31 20 655 9655

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after this registration statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. x

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box. o

## **CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE**

Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered(1)	Proposed Maximum Offering Price per Share	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price	Amount of Registration Fee
Ordinary Shares par value 0.01	4,943,147	\$ 6.38(2)	\$ 31,537,277.86(2)	\$ 1,239.42
(1) Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, there shall also be deen additional number of ordinary shares of the Registrant as may be offered or issued to prevent dilution resulting froordinary share dividends or similar transactions.			-	

(2) Estimated solely for the purpose of determining the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(c) of the Securities Act, based on the average of the reported high and low prices of the ordinary shares on the New York Stock Exchange on October 31, 2008.

Investing in our ordinary shares involves risk. See Risk Factors beginning on page 1 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission or other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.			
	The date of this prospectus is November 7, 2008.		

# Table of Contents

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page	
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS		1	
	RISK FACTORS		1
	SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS		1
	USE OF PROCEEDS		2
	SELLING SHAREHOLDERS		2
	PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION		4
	INTEREST OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL		6
	MATERIAL CHANGES		6
	ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES		6
	WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION		6
	INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE		7
	<u>EXPENSES</u>		7
	i		
	•		

## **Table of Contents**

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) utilizing a shelf registration process. Under this shelf process, the selling shareholders may offer up to a total of 4,943,147 ordinary shares, from time to time, in one or more offerings, in any manner described under the section in this prospectus entitled Plan of Distribution.

#### ABOUT AERCAP

AerCap is an integrated global aviation company with a leading market position in aircraft and engine leasing, trading and parts sales. AerCap also provides aircraft management services and performs aircraft and engine maintenance, repair and overhaul services and aircraft disassemblies. As of September 30, 2008 AerCap had a fleet of 314 aircraft and 74 commercial engines that were either owned, on order, under contract or letter of intent, or managed. AerCap is headquartered in The Netherlands and has offices in Ireland, the United States, Singapore, China and the United Kingdom.

### RISK FACTORS

Investing in our ordinary shares involves risk. Those risks are specified in the section captioned Risk Factors in Item 3 of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on March 21, 2008 (our Annual Report ). You should carefully consider those risks together with the other information in this prospectus and incorporated by reference herein before deciding to invest in our ordinary shares. If any of those risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

### SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference include forward looking statements, principally under the captions Prospectus Summary, Aircraft, Engine and Aviation Parts Industry, Risk Factors, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Business in our Annual Report and under Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our quarterly reports furnished on Form 6-K. We have based these forward looking statements largely on our current beliefs, and projections about future events and financial trends affecting our business. Many important factors, in addition to those discussed in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference, could cause our actual results to differ substantially from those anticipated in our forward looking statements, including, among other things:

- our ability to successfully negotiate aircraft and engine purchases, sales and leases, to collect outstanding amounts due and to repossess aircraft and engines under defaulted leases, and to control costs and expenses,
- changes in the overall demand for commercial aircraft and engine leasing and aircraft management services,

- the economic condition of the global airline and cargo industry,
- the ability of our lessees and potential lessees to make operating lease payments to us,
- competitive pressures within the industry,
- changes in interest rates and other terms, and availability of capital to us and to our customers,
- the negotiation of aircraft management services contracts,
- regulatory changes affecting commercial aircraft operators, aircraft maintenance, engine standards, accounting standards and taxes,
- the risks set forth in Risk Factors.

The words believe, may, will, aim, estimate, continue, anticipate, intend, expect and similar words are intended to identify forward tements. Forward looking statements include information concerning our possible or assumed future results of operations, business strategies, financing plans, competitive position, industry environment, potential growth opportunities, the effects of future regulation and the effects of

1

## **Table of Contents**

competition. Forward looking statements speak only as of the date they were made and we undertake no obligation to update publicly or to revise any forward looking statements after we distribute this prospectus because of new information, future events or other factors. In light of the risks and uncertainties described above, the forward looking events and circumstances described in this prospectus might not occur and are not guarantees of future performance.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the ordinary shares by the selling shareholders.

#### SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

Initially, the selling shareholders will be our current and former senior management and directors and a consultant, who received or will receive their ordinary shares from our direct and indirect controlling shareholders. In connection with our initial public offering in November 2006, our controlling shareholders required our senior management and directors and a consultant not to sell the shares before November 27, 2008. We agreed to file this registration statement for the benefit of the selling shareholders to facilitate the sale of their ordinary shares after such date.

The table below shows all ordinary shares delivered or to be delivered to senior management, certain directors and a consultant by our direct and indirect controlling shareholders that may be offered pursuant to this prospectus. These ordinary shares include 2,566,770 ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of options, 393,182 of which are not vested as of the date of this Prospectus. All options vest by March 31, 2010, subject to AerCap meeting certain pre-determined performance measures. To our knowledge, none of the selling shareholders is a holder of 10% or more of our ordinary shares or a broker-dealer. The information provided in the table below with respect to each selling shareholder has been obtained from the selling shareholders. Because the selling shareholders may sell all, some or none of the ordinary shares beneficially owned by them, we cannot estimate either the number or the percentage of ordinary shares that will be beneficially owned by the selling shareholders following this offering. See the section captioned Plan of Distribution. However, the table assumes that all ordinary shares being offered under this prospectus are ultimately sold. The ordinary shares covered by this prospectus include ordinary shares offered by any pledgee, donee, transferee or other successor-in-interest of the selling shareholders, provided that this prospectus will be amended or supplemented if required by applicable law.

We are registering the ordinary shares in order to permit the selling shareholders to offer the ordinary shares for resale from time to time. The table below sets forth the total number of ordinary shares that the selling shareholders may sell under this registration statement, as adjusted for any ordinary share split, ordinary share dividend or similar transaction.

## Table of Contents

	Ordinary Shares	Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage(1)
Directors:		
Ronald J. Bolger	27,734	*
James N. Chapman	55,300	*
Klaus W. Heinemann(2)	1,409,926	1.7%
Marius J. L. Jonkhart	27,734	*
Pieter Korteweg	55,469	*
Senior Management:		
Wouter M. (Erwin) den Dikken	229,907	*
Patrick den Elzen	144,581	*
Soeren E. Ferré	167,366	*
Keith A. Helming	636,910	*
Aengus Kelly	415,474	*
Heinrich H. Loechteken	1,197,458	1.4%
Anil Mehta	78,839	*
Cole T. Reese	209,227	*
Reynoud K. Simonis	109,672	*
Consultant:		
Oliver Brown	177,550	*
Total	4,943,147	5.4%

<sup>\*</sup> Indicates less than 1%.

- (1) Percentage amount assumes the exercise by such persons of all options to acquire shares exercisable within 60 days and no exercise of options by any other person.
- (2) Mr. Heinemann is both a member of our Board of Directors and our Chief Executive Officer.

The addresses of each selling shareholder is c/o AerCap Holdings N.V., Stationsplein 965, 1117 CE Schipol Airport, The Netherlands.

Table	$\alpha f$	Contents

## PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling shareholders, which as used herein includes donees, pledgees, transferees or other successors-in-interest selling ordinary shares or interests in ordinary shares received after the date of this prospectus from a selling shareholder as a gift, pledge, partnership distribution or other transfer, may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of their ordinary shares or interests in ordinary shares on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the ordinary shares are traded or in private transactions. These dispositions may be at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to the prevailing market price, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or at negotiated prices.

The selling shareholders may use any one or more of the following methods when disposing of ordinary shares or interests therein:

ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

4

## Table of Contents

• block as pr	block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the ordinary shares as agent, but may position and resell a portion of the rincipal to facilitate the transaction;
•	purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;
•	an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
•	privately negotiated transactions;
•	through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
• share; and	broker-dealers may agree with the selling shareholders to sell a specified number of such ordinary shares at a stipulated price per
•	a combination of any such methods of sale.
they defau time, unde amending prospectus	g shareholders may, from time to time, pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the ordinary shares owned by them and, if It in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the ordinary shares, from time to r this prospectus, or under an amendment to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act the list of selling shareholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as selling shareholders under this. The selling shareholders also may transfer the ordinary shares in other circumstances, in which case the transferees, pledgees or essors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.
broker-dea	ion with the sale of our ordinary shares or interests therein, the selling shareholders may loan or pledge the ordinary shares to derivative shareholders that in turn may sell these securities. The selling shareholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers mancial institutions or the creation of one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other

The aggregate proceeds to the selling shareholders from the sale of the ordinary shares offered by them will be the purchase price of the ordinary shares less discounts or commissions, if any. Each of the selling shareholders reserves the right to accept and, together with their agents from time to time, to reject, in whole or in part, any proposed purchase of ordinary shares to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

financial institution of ordinary shares offered by this prospectus, which ordinary shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may

resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The selling shareholders also may resell all or a portion of the ordinary shares in open market transactions in reliance upon Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, provided that they meet the criteria and conform to the requirements of that rule.

The selling shareholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that participate in the sale of the ordinary shares or interests therein may be underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. Any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of the ordinary shares may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Selling shareholders who are underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

To the extent required, the ordinary shares to be sold, the names of the selling shareholders, the respective purchase prices and public offering prices, the names of any agents, dealer or underwriter, any applicable commissions or discounts with respect to a particular offer will be set forth in an accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement that includes this prospectus.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the ordinary shares may be sold in these jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the ordinary

5

## **Table of Contents**

shares may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption from registration or qualification requirements is available and is complied with.

We have advised the selling shareholders that the anti-manipulation rules of Regulation M under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of ordinary shares in the market and to the activities of the selling shareholders and their affiliates. In addition, to the extent applicable, we will make copies of this prospectus (as it may be supplemented or amended from time to time) available to the selling shareholders for the purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The selling shareholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the ordinary shares against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

## INTEREST OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

None.

## **MATERIAL CHANGES**

Except as otherwise described our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and in our Reports on Form 6-K furnished under the Exchange Act and incorporated by reference herein, no reportable material changes have occurred since December 31, 2007.

## ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a Netherlands public limited liability company ( naamloze vennootschap ). Most of our directors and executive officers live outside of the United States. Most of the assets of our directors and most of our assets are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may not be possible to serve process on us or on such persons in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts against them or us based on the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States. Under our articles of association (i) certain disputes between, among others, our shareholders and us and or our directors must be exclusively submitted to Netherlands courts, and (ii) the legal relationships between, among others, those persons are governed by the laws of The Netherlands. There is doubt as to whether Netherlands courts would enforce certain civil liabilities under U.S. securities laws in original actions. In addition, there is doubt as to whether Netherlands courts will enforce claims for punitive damage. An award rendered by a foreign court is recognized and enforceable in The Netherlands only under a treaty to that effect between the state of the foreign court and The Netherlands. In the absence of a treaty providing for the recognition and enforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, Netherlands courts will not recognize and enforce judgments of U.S. courts based upon these civil liability provisions.

We have appointed Puglisi & Associates as our agent solely to receive service of process in any action against us in any U.S. federal court or the courts of the State of New York arising out of this offering.

## WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed a registration statement on Form F-3, including the exhibits and schedules thereto, with the SEC under the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder, for the registration of the ordinary shares that are being offered by this prospectus. This prospectus does not include all of the information contained in the registration statement. You should refer to the registration statement and its exhibits for additional information. Whenever we make reference in this prospectus to any of our contracts, agreements or other documents, the references are not necessarily complete and you should refer to the exhibits attached to the registration statement for copies of the actual contract, agreements or other document.

We are subject to the information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, applicable to foreign private issuers. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing certain disclosure and procedural requirements for proxy solicitations, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act, with respect to their purchases and sales of shares. We file with the SEC an Annual Report on Form 20-F containing financial statements audited by an independent registered public accounting firm. We also furnish Reports on Form 6-K containing unaudited interim financial information for the first three quarters of each fiscal year.

## **Table of Contents**

You may read and copy any document we file with or furnish to the SEC at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 to obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. You can review our SEC filings, including the registration statement by accessing the SEC s Internet website at www.sec.gov. You may also request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing us as follows: AerCap Holdings N.V., Stationsplein 965, 1117 CE Schipol Airport, The Netherlands, or telephoning us at +31 20 655 9655.

## INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The following documents filed with the SEC by us are incorporated herein by reference:

- our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on March 21, 2008;
- our Reports on Form 6-K furnished with the SEC on July 14, 2008, July 22, 2008, September 11, 2008 and October 15, 2008;
- the description of our ordinary shares, par value 0.01 per share set forth under Description of Ordinary Shares in our Registration Statement on Form F 1 (File No. 333 138381), as amended, which was originally filed with the Commission on November 16, 2006.

All documents subsequently filed by us with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act, prior to the filing of a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement which indicates that all securities offered have been sold or which deregisters all securities then remaining unsold, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of such documents. Unless expressly incorporated into this Registration Statement, a report (or portion thereof) furnished on Form 6-K shall not be incorporated by reference into this Registration Statement. Any statement contained herein or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Registration Statement to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Registration Statement. Copies of these documents are not required to be filed with this Registration Statement.

### **EXPENSES**

We anticipate that our total expenses with respect to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part and the offering to be made hereby will aggregate approximately \$34,239.42, of which \$1,239.42 is attributable to the SEC registration fee, approximately \$20,000 is attributable to legal fees and approximately \$13,000 is attributable to accounting fees. None of these expenses will be paid by the selling shareholders.

## SEC POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURITIES ACT LIABILITIES

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is therefore unenforceable.

7

Table of Contents		
	Ordinary Shares	
	PROSPECTUS	
	November 7, 2008	

Table of	<b>Contents</b>
----------	-----------------

#### PART II

## INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

## Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

We have a directors and officers liability insurance policy which insures directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or payment of claims and judgments under some circumstances. We have also entered into indemnity agreements with each of our board members in which we agree to hold each of them harmless, to the extent permitted by law, from damage resulting from a failure to perform or a breach of duties by our board members, and to indemnify each of them for serving in any capacity for the benefit of the company, except in the case of willful misconduct or gross negligence in certain circumstances.

Although Netherlands law does not contain any provisions with respect to the indemnification of officers and directors, the concept of indemnification of directors of a company for liabilities arising from their actions as members of the executive or supervisory boards is, in principle, accepted in The Netherlands. AerCap s Articles of Association provide for indemnification of directors and officers by the company to the fullest extent permitted by Netherlands law against liabilities, expenses and amounts paid in settlement relating to claims, actions, suits or proceedings to which a director becomes a party as a result of his or her position.

The indemnification provided above is not exclusive of any rights to which any of our directors or officers may be entitled. The general effect of the forgoing provisions may be to reduce the circumstances in which a director or officer may be required to bear the economic burdens of the forgoing liabilities and expenses.

### Item 9. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following exhibits are filed herewith:

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
4.1	Form of Share Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (No. 333-138381), as amended, originally filed with the Commission on November 16, 2006).
5.1	Opinion of NautaDutilh N.V.
23.1	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
23.2	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

23.3	Consent of NautaDutilh N.V. (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1	Power of Attorney (included in signature page to this Registration Statement).
Item 10	Undertakings.
The und	ersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
(1)	To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i)	To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
	To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent active amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the constatement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities
	II-1

## Table of Contents

(i)

offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement; and
(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
provided, however, that paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in this registration statement or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of this Registration Statement.
(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof;
(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering;
(4) To file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act need not be furnished, provided that the registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this paragraph and other information necessary to ensure that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a post-effective amendment need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Act or Rule 3-19 of Regulation S-K if such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement; and
(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933,

Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the Registration Statement as of the

date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the Registration Statement; and

Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(l)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date;

## **Table of Contents**

- For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than any payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-3

## **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Amsterdam, the Netherlands, on this November 7, 2008.

#### AERCAP HOLDINGS N.V.

By: /s/ Klaus Heinemann Klaus Heinemann Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of AerCap Holdings N.V., hereby severally constitute and appoint James N. Chapman, Klaus W. Heinemann and Robert G. Warden and each of them, our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for them, together or individually, in any and all capacities, to sign for us and in our names, the Registration Statement on Form F-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and any and all amendments to said Registration Statement (including post-effective amendments), and to file or cause to be filed the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys, and each of them full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as each of them might or could do in person, and hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys, or their substitute, shall do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Pieter Korteweg Pieter Korteweg	Chairman of the Board of Directors	November 7, 2008
/s/ Klaus Heinemann Klaus Heinemann	Chief Executive Officer	November 7, 2008
/s/ Ronald J. Bolger Ronald J. Bolger	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ James N. Chapman James N. Chapman	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008

/s/ W. Brett Ingersoll W. Brett Ingersoll	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ Marius J.L. Jonkhart Marius J.L. Jonkhart	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ Keith A. Helming Keith A. Helming	Chief Financial Officer	November 7, 2008
/s/ Cole T. Reese Cole T. Reese	Chief Accounting Officer	November 7, 2008
/s/ Gerald P. Strong Gerald P. Strong	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ David J. Teitelbaum David J. Teitelbaum	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ Robert G. Warden Robert G. Warden	Non-Executive Director	November 7, 2008
/s/ Donald Puglisi Donald Puglisi	Authorized Representative in the United States	November 7, 2008

# Table of Contents

# **Exhibits Index**

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
4.1	Form of Share Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (No. 333-138381), as amended, originally filed with the Commission on November 16, 2006).
5.1	Opinion of NautaDutilh N.V.
23.1	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
23.2	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
23.3	Consent of NautaDutilh N.V. (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1	Power of Attorney (included in signature page to this Registration Statement).
	II-5